

Hog[®] **2PC Handbook**



Copyright © 2005 by Flying Pig Systems. All Rights Reserved

No part of this Handbook may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and recording, for any purpose (except for the training purposes described below), without the express written permission of High End Systems. For Hog[®] training purposes, copies can be made and freely distributed provided that:

- 1. The Handbook is not altered in any way and is copied in its entirety.
- 2. All copies are distributed free of charge
- 3. All copies are used for no purpose other than to educate users in Hog 2PC operation.

High End Systems reserves the right to determine what constitutes a legitimate training purpose and to revoke the right for anyone to duplicate this Handbook at any time.

High End Systems 2105 Gracy Farms Lane Austin, Texas 78758 USA Email: support@flyingpig.com

Trademarks

High End Systems, the Flying Pig Systems logo, the WHOLEHOG, WHOLEHOG II and WHOLEHOG III logos are registered trademarks of High End Systems, Inc., or High End Systems, Europe Ltd. Flying Pig Systems, Effects Engine, and Hog are registered trademarks of Flying Pig Systems. Windows is a registered trademark of Microsoft corporation. IntelliTouch, SecureTouch, AccuTouch, Entuitive, and MonitorMouse are trademarks of Elo TouchSystems, Inc.

All other brand names and product names used in this book are trademarks, registered trademarks, or trade names of their respective holders.

Changes

Information and specifications in this document are subject to change without notice. Certain specifications may be the result of future software releases. High End Systems, Inc. assumes no responsibility or liability for any errors or inaccuracies that may appear in this manual.

For a complete list of the issued patents and patents pending contact High End Systems.

Hog 2PC Handbook P/N 25091197 Version 1.0, February, 2005 Printed in the USA



Product Modification Warning

High End Systems products are designed and manufactured to meet the requirements of United States and International safety regulations. Modifications to the product could affect safety and render the product non-compliant to relevant safety standards.

Mise En Garde Contre La Modification Du Produit

Les produits High End Systems sont conçus et fabriqués conformément aux exigences des règlements internationaux de sécurité. Toute modification du produit peut entraîner sa non conformité aux normes de sécurité en vigueur.

Produktmodifikationswarnung

Design und Herstellung von High End Systems entsprechen den Anforderungen der U.S. Amerikanischen und internationalen Sicherheitsvorschriften. Abänderungen dieses Produktes können dessen Sicherheit beeinträchtigen und unter Umständen gegen die diesbezüglichen Sicherheitsnormen verstoßen.

Avvertenza Sulla Modifica Del Prodotto

I prodotti di High End Systems sono stati progettati e fabbricati per soddisfare i requisiti delle normative di sicurezza statunitensi ed internazionali. Qualsiasi modifica al prodotto potrebbe pregiudicare la sicurezza e rendere il prodotto non conforme agli standard di sicurezza pertinenti.

Advertencia De Modificación Del Producto

Los productos de High End Systems están diseñados y fabricados para cumplir los requisitos de las reglamentaciones de seguridad de los Estados Unidos e internacionales. Las modificaciones al producto podrían afectar la seguridad y dejar al producto fuera de conformidad con las normas de seguridad relevantes.

製品変更に対する警告

High End Systems 製品はアメリカ合衆国及び、国際安全基準の必要条件を満たすよう設計及び製造されています。 この為、製品に対する変更は安全に対して影響を及ぼす場合及び、関連安全基準に満たない状態にする場合があり ます。

Warranty Information

Limited Warranty: Unless otherwise stated, your product is covered by a one year parts and labour limited warranty. It is the owner's responsibility to furnish receipts or invoices for verification of purchase, date, and dealer or distributor. If purchase date cannot be provided, date of manufacture will be used to determine warranty period.

Returning an Item Under Warranty for Repair: It is necessary to obtain a Return Material Authorization (RMA) number from your dealer or point of purchase BEFORE any units are returned for repair. The manufacturer will make the final determination as to whether or not the unit is covered by warranty.

Any Product unit or parts returned to High End Systems must be packaged in a suitable manner to ensure the protection of such Product unit or parts, and such package shall be clearly and prominently marked to indicate that the package contains returned Product units or parts and with an RMA number. Accompany all returned Product units or parts with a written explanation of the alleged problem or malfunction. Ship returned Product units or parts to: High End Systems, 2105 Gracy Farms Lane, Austin, Texas 78758.

Note: Freight Damage Claims are invalid for products shipped in non-factory boxes and packing materials.

Freight: All shipping will be paid by the purchaser. Under no circumstances will freight collect shipments be accepted.

REPAIR OR REPLACEMENT AS PROVIDED FOR UNDER THIS WARRANTY IS THE EXCLUSIVE REMEDY OF THE CONSUMER. HIGH END SYSTEMS, INC. MAKES NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO ANY PRODUCT, AND HIGH END SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. HIGH END SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGE, INCLUDING LOST PROFITS, SUSTAINED OR INCURRED IN CONNECTION WITH ANY PRODUCT OR CAUSED BY PRODUCT DEFECTS OR THE PARTIAL OR TOTAL FAILURE OF ANY PRODUCT REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE, AND WHETHER OR NOT SUCH DAMAGE WAS FORESEEN OR UNFORESEEN.

Warranty is void if the product is misused, damaged, modified in any way, or for unauthorized repairs or parts. Thiswarranty gives you specific legal rights, and you may also have other rights which vary from state to state.

Table of Contents

Introduction

| Unpacking | 1 |
|---------------------|---|
| System Requirements | 1 |

Installation

| Installing the Hog 2PC Application | . 2 |
|---------------------------------------|-----|
| Software Removal | 3 |
| Hardware Installation | 4 |
| USB DMX Widget | 4 |
| USB LTC Widget | . 4 |
| USB Wings | 4 |
| Troubleshooting Hardware Installation | 4 |

Operation

| Starting the Hog 2PC Application |
|---|
| Using Hog 2PC Interface |
| Displaying Four Touchpanel Windows7 |
| Changing Window Positions8 |
| Restoring Default Window Positions8 |
| Keyboard Shortcut Tooltips |
| Configuring External USB DMX Widgets with Hog 2PC10 |
| Midi Input & Output11 |
| Linear Timecode (LTC) Input11 |
| Connecting Playback Wings12 |
| Playback Faders & Associated Buttons12 |
| Other Buttons12 |
| Connecting a Programming Wing13 |
| Encoder Wheels13 |
| Trackball13 |
| Buttons13 |
| The USB Device Status Panel14 |
| Desk Lights14 |
| DMX Outputs14 |
| Linear Timecode (LTC) Input14 |
| Expansion Wings14 |
| Using Hog 2PC Software15 |
| Changing the Show Folder15 |
| Transferring Hog 2PC Show Files15 |
| Printing to File15 |

Advanced Operation

| Inverted Screens | 16 |
|------------------|----|
| Auto Start | 16 |
| Display Problems | 16 |

Visualiser Support

| Visualising Hog 2PC Output | 17 |
|---|----|
| Using Hog 2PC Software with ESP Vision | 17 |
| Using Hog 2PC Software with WYSIWYG | 18 |
| Using Hog 2PC Software with Martin ShowDesigner | 20 |
| Using Hog 2PC Software with LewLight Capture | 21 |

Keyboard Shortcuts

Keyboard Map

Introduction

Unpacking

If you ordered a **USB DMX Widget** or **DMX Super Widget**, you should have received:

- USB DMX widget or Super Widget (Super Widget requires power and a power supply is included)
- USB cable
- Hog 2PC software installation CD
- This manual

If you ordered a **USB Wing**, you should have received:

- USB playback or programming wing
- Protective cover for the wing
- USB cable
- Power supply unit with IEC power cable
- LED desklight with protective pouch

If you ordered an LTC Widget, you should have received:

- USB LTC widget
- USB cable

System Requirements

To ensure successful operation of the Hog 2PC software on a personal computer, verify that the system meets the following minimum specifications:

- Pentium II compatible processor at 400MHz or higher
- Microsoft Windows 2000® or XP® operating system
- 96MB of RAM
- 8MB of free hard-disk space
- 1024×768 or higher-resolution monitor For larger shows, using more powerful processor is advisable. Please ensure that you are using the most up-to-date drivers for your graphics card.

Installation

Installing the Hog 2PC Application

The software for the Hog 2PC system is provided on the accompanying CD-ROM. You can also download the latest version of the application from the High End Systems website at www.highend.com/support

NOTE: If you wish to use ESP Vision, WYSIWYG, Martin ShowDesigner or Capture to visualise the output from the Hog 2PC application, be sure to install them before installing Hog 2PC software.

To install the Hog 2PC application:

- After loading the CD, double click on Hog2PC_x-x-x-x.msi file to launch the install wizard, where x-x-x-x is the supplied build number. The Hog 2PC installer will check your operating system and windows installer versions, and then display the welcome screen.
- Ensure any Flying Pig Systems USB devices (such as widgets or wings) have been disconnected from your computer, and click on the Next button to continue.
- The wizard displays an End User License Agreement. After you select I accept the terms in the Licence Agreement, you can click the Next button to continue.

| The installer will guide you through the steps required to install Hog2PC 3.4.0.23 on your computer. | ₩Hog2PC 3.4.0.23 Welcome to the Ho | og2PC 3.4.0.23 Setu | IP Wizar WHOLEHOG P(|
|--|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| | The installer will guide you throu | ugh the steps required to install Ho | g2PC 3.4.0.23 on your computer. |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| Carried C Rack Naves | | Cancel | Z Renk Nevts |



- By default the software will be installed into the "C:\Program Files\Flying Pig Systems\Hog2PC\" directory. You can browse to a different directory to select another location for the application. Click on Next to continue the installation.
- A final screen will confirm that the application has sucessfully installed. After installation, a dialog box appears stating the computer must be restarted.

A Hog 2PC group will be added to the Programs folder on your Start Menu, with

| 🗑 Hog2PC 3.4.0.23 | |
|---|---|
| Select Installation Folder | WHOLEHOG P |
| The installer will install Hog2PC 3.4.0.23 to the following | g folder. |
| To install in this folder, click "Next". To install to a differ | ent folder, enter it below or click "Browse". |
| Eolder: C:\Program Files\Flying Pig Systems\Hog2PC\ | Browse |
| Cancel | < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext> |

icons to start the Hog 2PC application and view installed documentation. as well as a shortcut on your desktop.

Software Removal

You can remove the Hog 2PC application from your computer using the 'Add/Remove Programs' utility found in the Windows Control Panel.

In the start menu, select Control Panel, then double click on 'Add/Remove Programs'. Select 'Hog 2PC' in the list of installed programs, and click 'Change/Remove'.

Select 'Remove', click 'Next' and follow the on-screen instructions to complete the un-installation of Hog 2PC software.

Hardware Installation

Hardware installation should only be performed after the Hog 2PC software has been installed on your computer.

Please observe the following important information before connecting your hardware:

USB DMX Widget

DMX Widgets are high-power USB devices, and so is not compatible with bus powered USB hubs. If a widget is connected via a bus-powered USB hub, Windows will report that is does not have enough power available to run the widget. Always connect the widget either directly to your computer, or to a self-powered hub.

NOTE: The Super Widget comes with its own power supply, so you can connect it to a bus-powered USB hub.

USB LTC Widget

The LTC Widget is a low-power USB device, and so can be used with both bus powered and self powered USB hubs.

USB Wings

The USB Programming and Playback Wings can be used either with or without the supplied external power supplies. If used without, the desklight and internal USB hub will not function, and LED dimming will be unavailable. All other functions will remain unaffected.

When the internal hub is active (with an external power supply connected), it operates as a selfpowered hub. It is therefore possible to connect high-power USB devices to the internal hub, such as the USB DMX Widget, or another Wing.

The USB Wing is a high-power USB device when used without an external power supply, and so should not be connected to bus powered USB hubs unless the external power supply is connected.

NOTE: When installing the USB Programming Wing, you may need your original Windows installation CD to install support for the trackball. Please ensure you have this CD available the first time you connect a Programming Wing to your computer.

Use the supplied cables to connect any Flying Pig Systems USB devices to your computer. Windows should automatically detect and install the new hardware. This process may take a few seconds, but should not require any input from you. If this is the case, you may ignore the rest of this page.

Troubleshooting Hardware Installation

If you see the following dialog, you may safely ignore the warning and click on Next or Finish to complete the installation:

Hog 2PC Handbook

If Windows displays the full 'new hardware' wizard (not just the dialog above), it has not detected the FPS USB drivers. If this happens, please disconnect the USB device, un-install the Hog 2PC software and re-run the installer, verifying that the 'USB Device Drivers' option is checked during the installation process. Then reconnect the USB device.

If the new hardware wizard is still displayed, select 'Search for a suitable driver for my device'. On the following screen, ensure



'Specify a location' is checked and click on the Next button. This will display a dialog requesting the location of the drivers. You should enter 'C:\Windows\Inf', where 'C:\Windows' is the location where Windows is installed (usually as above, or 'C:\Winnt'). Windows should now detect the drivers and complete the hardware installation.

Operation

Starting the Hog 2PC Application

To start the application, click on the Hog 2PC icon on your Start Menu and the Show Locator window will open.



The Hog 2PC launch screen lets you locate existing Hog 2PC show folders or create a new one. Use the folder viewer on the left to browse to a folder that contains an existing show, or create a new folder to start a new show. Folders containing an existing show are shown in bold text.

Right-click in the **Show Folder** window to rename a folder or create a new folder.

When you click the **OK** button, the Frontpanel and Touchpanel windows will open.

NOTE: It is possible to autostart the Hog 2PC application and bypass the startup dialog if required — see the Advanced Setup section for details

Using Hog 2PC Interface

The two Touchpanel windows work in the same way as the Touchpanel screens on a Wholehog II console.



To spin the wheels on the Frontpanel window, press and hold the left hand mouse button over a wheel and drag the mouse up or down to spin the wheel. You can also press and hold **F10** (for wheel 1), **F11** (for wheel 2) or **F12** (for wheel 3) and either move the mouse up or down or use the cursor keys to turn the wheels.

Clicking on the **Pig** button will latch it into the 'on' state to allow you to press another button with the Pig button held down. Once the second button has been pressed the Pig button will unlatch.

Displaying Four Touchpanel Windows

By default, only two touchpanel windows are shown. However, the Hog 2PC software supports the display of three or four windows if desired. To open these windows, select Setup, Control Panel and set the resolutions for Display 1 and Display 2 (which correspond to the two external displays on the Wholehog II console).

Changing Window Positions

By default, the touchpanel windows will be aligned to the top corners of the screen, and the front panel window will be positioned centrally above the task bar, as shown on the previous page.

To move the touchpanel windows around the screen, either click and drag the window's title bar (as with any other Windows application), or right click and drag anywhere on the window, or right click and use the cursor keys. As the front panel does not have a title bar, it can only be moved by positioning the mouse cursor over any blue part of the panel and clicking and dragging the mouse.

To prevent accidentally moving the front panel under normal operation, it is possible to lock the panel's current position by right clicking on the panel and selecting 'Lock position'. Clicking and dragging on the panel will now have no effect. To re-enable panel movement, right click again and deselect 'Lock position'. This setting is 'remembered' when you exit and re-start the Hog 2PC application.

It is also possible to minimise some or all of the Hog 2PC windows if you wish. Right click on the front panel window and select one of the options from the popup menu:

- Minimise All to hide all of the Hog 2PC windows
- Minimise to just hide the Front Panel window.
- Show All restores any of the Hog 2PC windows that have been minimised.

The touchpanel windows may be minimized individually in the same manner as any other Windows application.

When you exit the Hog 2PC application, the window positions you have set will be stored. The next time you start Hog 2PC software, the windows will be in the same places you left them in. (Windows that are minimised when you exit Hog 2PC software will be shown in their last nonminimised position when you restart Hog 2PC software.)

To save screen space, it is possible to hide the title bar and border around the touchpanel windows by right clicking (and not dragging) on the touchpanel windows. This is particularly useful when using multiple monitors with the monitor resolution matching the touchpanel resolution, as the window can be precisely positioned using the cursor keys to fill the entire screen.

Restoring Default Window Positions

When you start Hog 2PC software, the front panel and touchscreen windows will be in the same positions as when you were last using the Hog 2PC application. If you wish to reset them back to their default positions, right click on the blue front panel window and select 'Default Positions'. The windows will be reset to their default positions.

If you prefer, it is possible to reset the positions to their defaults when you start Hog 2PC software. This is useful if the windows have been 'lost' off the edges of your monitor.

Create a shortcut to Hog2PC.exe. Right click over the shortcut and select the properties entry from the menu. Click in the Target field and add a space, a hyphen and then a lower case d. Typically the target field will end up looking something like:

"C:\Program Files\Flying Pig Systems\Hog2PC.exe" -d

When Hog 2PC software is run from this shortcut, the window positions will be reset to default.

Keyboard Shortcut Tooltips

All of the keys on the front panel (with the exception of DBO) have keyboard shortcuts assigned to them. To display the keyboard shortcut for a particular front panel key, move the mouse cursor over the key and keep it still for about half a second. A 'tooltip' will appear to display the keyboard shortcut for that key. This technique can also be used to display the keyboard shortcuts for the wheels.

If you wish to disable the tooltips, right click on the front panel and deselect 'Show tooltips'. You can re-enable tooltips by right clicking and reselecting 'Show tooltips' again. This setting is 'remembered' when you exit and re-start Hog 2PC software.

NOTE: A complete list of keyboard shortcuts appears at the end of this handbook.

Configuring External USB DMX Widgets with Hog 2PC

Refer to the Wholehog 2 user manual for details on patching fixtures to these DMX outputs.

Use the following steps to install and configure USB DMX Widgets:

1. Connect the USB DMX Widget or Super Widget to the computer's USB port.

Note: The Super Widget has it's own power supply that you will also need to connect.

- 1. After being connected, the "Link" indicator on the widget should be illuminated and it will blink every two seconds to indicate that it is functioning correctly.
- Right click over the Frontpanel window and select the "Config..." option from the popup menu that appears. The top section of the Config window is used to configure USB DMX widgets to the outputs of the Hog 2PC application. The Hog 2PC application provides one port for each of the DMX outputs that a Wholehog 2 console supports when fully 'overdriven'.
- Left click on the box associated with the port and select the widget from the list of serial numbers that appears. A widget may only be connected to only one port at any one time. If a widget that is already connected to one port is connected

| Config | X |
|---|--|
| CDMX Ou:puts | |
| Port 1: Nonc 💌 | |
| Port 2: None | Port 2b: None 🗾 |
| Port 3: None 🗾 | Port 3b: None 🗾 |
| Port 4: None 💌 | Port 4b: None 🗾 |
| Playback Wings Main: None Rock: None | Programming Wing |
| Midi Input MIDI Yoke NT: 5 MIDI Yoke NT: 6 MIDI Yoke NT: 7 MIDI Yoke NT: 8 SB Audigy MIDI Port [FFE0] MPU-401 | Midi Output MIDI Yoke NT: 5 MIDI Yoke NT: 6 MIDI Yoke NT: 7 MIDI Yoke NT: 8 SB Audigy MIDI Port [FFE0] MPU-401 |
| | OK Carcel |

to a second port, it will automatically be disconnected from the first port.

NOTE: A USB DMX Super Widget will display its serial number followed by an output number (SN/1, SN/2, SN/3, or SN/4). You can assign any output of a Super Widget to any available DMX port.

- 4. The small button on the right hand side of each port field helps you identify which widget is connected to it. When you press that button for a port, the connected widget flashes its indicator lights for a few seconds.
- 5. Click on OK to confirm the selection. The widgets that have been connected should now have their "Active", "DMX OK", and "TX Mode" indicators illuminated.

Midi Input & Output

Hog 2PC software can use the Windows operating system to provide its midi input and output facilities. It can be connected to any Midi devices that have Windows drivers. Refer to the manufacturers instructions for details of how to set up their hardware and install their drivers.

Right Click over the front panel window and select the "Config..." option from the popup menu that appears.

The lower part of the Config window can be used to select which devices Hog 2PC software uses to receive and transmit Midi. Select a device for both the input and output stream. Click the OK button to confirm the selection.

| Config | × |
|---|---|
| CDMX Ou:puts | |
| Port 1: Nonc 🖃 | |
| Port 2: None 📃 | Port 2b: None 📃 |
| Port 3: None 💽 | Port 3b: None 🗾 📃 |
| Port 4: None 💌 | Port 4b: None 🗾 🔜 |
| Playback Wings | Programming Wing |
| Main: None 💌 🗾 | Main: None 🔽 |
| Rock: None 🗾 | |
| r Midi Input | r Midi Output |
| MIDI Yoke NT: 5 MIDI Yoke NT: 6 MIDI Yoke NT: 7 MIDI Yoke NT: 7 SB Audigy MIDI Port [FFE0] MPU-401 | MIDI Yoke NT: 5 MIDI Yoke NT: 6 MIDI Yoke NT: 7 MIDI Yoke NT: 8 SB Audigy MIDI Port [FFE0] MPU-401 |
| | OK Carcel |

The Hog 2PC application will not start processing midi signals until the Midi system is enabled in the Inputs Control Panel. Refer to page 137 of the Wholehog II manual for details of the Input Control Panel.

NOTE: Although Hog 2PC can receive MIDI Notes messages, it does not output them.

Linear Timecode (LTC) Input

Hog 2PC software supports the use of a Flying Pig Systems USB LTC Widget to input Linear Timecode (LTC) to Hog 2PC.

To use an LTC Widget, connect it to your computer using the supplied USB cable, and connect an LTC source to the 3-pin XLR input on the end of the Widget.

Once connected, the LTC Widget operates in the same manner as the LTC input on a Wholehog II console. To enable the Wholehog software to 'see' the timecode signal, it must be configured to use the LTC input. This can be enabled by selecting Setup, Input Panel, setting the source to Tape, clicking on 'TCode Controls' to display the timecode controls bar, and clicking on the 'TCode' button to enable timecode input. Please refer to the Wholehog II manual for further information on using timecode.

It is useful to display the USB Device Status Panel (by clicking on the Wholehog PC logo) to confirm that the LTC Widget has been correctly detected by Hog 2PC software, and that the input timecode signal is being read correctly. See the section 'The USB Device Status Panel' later in this handbook for further information on this display.

Connecting Playback Wings

Up to two Flying Pig Systems USB Playback Wings can be connected to the Hog 2PC system to provide a convenient control surface for playing back your shows. The first USB Wing will provide 8 playback masters, a grand master, and a manual crossfader. A second USB Wing can be added to provide an additional 10 playback masters.

You must configure Hog 2PC software to use Playback Wings by selecting their serial numbers in the config dialog, in a similar manner to configuring USB DMX Widgets.

The controls on the first (main) Playback Wing operate as follows:

Playback Faders & Associated Buttons

The wing's faders are arranged in the same order as the Hog 2PC on-screen faders:

- The first fader is the grand master. It's Flash and Stop buttons both act as DBO in Hog 2PC software, and it's Choose and Go buttons have no function in this version of Hog 2PC software.
- The eight faders in the middle are the 8 playback masters. Their Choose, Go, Stop and Flash buttons are all supported by Hog 2PC software.
- The last fader is the manual crossfader. It's associated buttons have no function in this version of Hog 2PC software.

Other Buttons

The **Next Page**, **Release**, **Skip Forwards**, **Skip Backwards** and **Pig** buttons are directly supported by Hog 2PC software.

The **Assert** button is supported, and operates as follows:

- Press assert (on its own) to assert the currently chosen master.
- Hold a choose key and press assert to assert that master without choosing it.

The controls on the second (rock) Playback Wing operate in a similar manner, except that the first and last faders are treated the same as the other eight faders, giving a total of ten playback masters.

When using a second Playback Wing as a rock wing, a second playback status bar will be displayed at the bottom of the third touchpanel window. (To display this window, select Setup, Control Panel and set a resolution for 'Display 1'.)

Clicking on either of the playback bars will 'choose' that master. This is a convenient way of checking which fader controls each master when the monitor and playback wing are not directly lined up.

Connecting a Programming Wing

A single Flying Pig Systems USB Programming Wing can be connected to a Hog 2PC system. **You must configure Hog 2PC software to use the Programming Wing** by selecting its serial number in the config dialog, in a similar manner to configuring USB DMX Widgets.

Encoder Wheels

The first three encoders correspond to the three on-screen encoders, and perform a similar function.

The fourth encoder is a dedicated scrolling wheel, performing the same function as holding the Setup button and turning the first encoder wheel.

Trackball

The trackball can operate either in mouse mode, or in pan & tilt mode. When first connected (or when Hog 2PC software is not running), it will default to mouse mode.

To toggle between trackball modes, click the top right trackball button while Hog 2PC software is running. The current mode is indicated by the blue backlight, which will be off when in mouse mode and on when in pan & tilt mode. Note the wing trackball mode is independent of the 'Trackball does Pan/Tilt' option in the Hog 2PC software control panel.

In mouse mode, the trackball controls the main Windows cursor. The two lower trackball buttons are used to left and right click. The trackball sensitivity can be adjusted using the standard Windows mouse control panel.

In pan & tilt mode, the trackball controls the pan and tilt of any fixtures currently selected in the programmer. The two lower trackball buttons act as 'Next Fixture' and 'Previous Fixture' when in this mode. The pan & tilt sensitivity can be adjusted by changing the 'trackball sensitivity' value in the Control Panel.

The top left trackball button has no function in this version of Hog 2PC software.

Buttons

The majority of the buttons on the Programming Wing perform the same function as their onscreen version, with the following variations:

| Wing | Hog 2PC | Wing | Hog 2PC |
|---------|---------|--------|------------|
| Live | Active | Intens | Group |
| Open | Load | Positn | Focus |
| Control | Undo | Back | Pig + Next |

The choose key functions as the choose key for the current chosen master. Hog 2PC software does not support the following keys: Scene, Merge, Fixture.

The USB Device Status Panel

A single click on the Wholehog PC logo (to the left of the three encoder wheels) will display the USB device status panel:

The panel can be moved around the screen in the same way as the main Hog 2PC front panel window (by clicking and dragging), or can be docked to the edge of the front panel window if preferred by dragging it near to the edge until it 'snaps' on.

The panel displays the connection status for all supported FPS USB devices.



Desk Lights

The two mini faders on the right side of the Status panel are used to control the desklight and LED brightness. Clicking on the image of the desklight will toggle the illumination between white and blue. Note that these controls will only be available when one or more wings are used with an external power supply connected.

Note: These setting are remembered by Hog 2PC software until changed again.

DMX Outputs

The seven indicators show the state of the seven supported universes of DMX output. Grey indicates 'not active', green indicates 'operating' and red indicates 'error'. Outputs become active as USB DMX Widgets or Super Widgets are connected and configured.

Linear Timecode (LTC) Input

The 'Connected' indicator will turn green when an LTC widget is detected. Only one LTC widget can be used with Hog 2PC software at any one time. No configuration is necessary for this widget - it will be automatically detected by Hog 2PC software.

The 'Enabled' indicator will turn green when the show currently loaded into Hog 2PC software is set to use timecode input. Please refer to the Wholehog 2 manual for further information on enabling timecode input.

The 'Receiving' indicator will turn green when valid timecode is detected by the LTC widget. The value of the incoming timecode will be displayed below this indicator. Note that this display refers only to the incoming LTC signal, not to any other timecode source (such as MIDI or simulation).

Expansion Wings

The 'Connected' indicators will turn green when a Programming or Playback Wing is detected. Hog 2PC software supports a maximum of one Programming Wing and two Playback Wings. Wings must be configured through the config dialog before they will operate.

The 'Receiving' indicator will flash green whenever data is received from the Wing. This should occur when a button is pressed, a fader moved, or an encoder turned.

Using Hog 2PC Software

Changing the Show Folder

To change the folder Hog 2PC software uses to save and load shows, right click on the Frontpanel and select 'Change Folder'. The Show Locator window will open to allow selection of a different folder. You can also display the Show Locator window by opening the 'Change Show' window in the Hog 2PC application and clicking on the 'Change Folder' button in the top toolbar.

After selecting a new folder and clicking on OK, Hog 2PC software will start using the folder you specified. The folder currently in use by Hog 2PC software is displayed at the bottom left of the 'Change Show' window.

Transferring Hog 2PC Show Files

A Wholehog 2 show file is actually a folder containing several subfolders and files. Within the Hog 2PC application, this show folder is displayed as a single Wholehog 2 show file.

If you copy this file to a CD or external drive, you will be able to access the subfolders and files. To



CAUTION: Altering or changing the hierarchy of any of the files within a Show file folder will corrupt the show file.

transfer a Wholehog 2 show from a Hog 2PC system to a Wholehog 2 console or vise versa, be sure to include all items within the original Hog 2PC show folder or on the floppy disk from a Wholehog 2 console. Any folder that is not recognized as a valid Wholehog 2 compatible show file, will not be recognized by Hog 2PC software.

Printing to File

It is possible to print to file from within Hog 2PC software. Print as you would on a Wholehog II console with a printer connected, and a printer file will be created in your current show disk directory. The file will be named for your show and will be either a postscript file (.ps) or a PCL5 file (.pcl) depending on the printer option you selected. You can then print this file at your convenience by sending it directly to your printer; by copying it to a compatible printer from the DOS commandline; or by printing it from a viewer utility such as Adobe Distiller or Ghostscript.

Advanced Operation

Inverted Screens

A small number of graphics card drivers handle one of the Windows display calls slightly oddly, this can cause the two Hog 2PC Touchpanel windows to display their contents upside down.

To correct for this problem, create a shortcut to Hog2PC.exe. Right click over the shortcut and select the properties entry from the menu. Click in the Target field and add a space, a hyphen and then a lower case r. Typically the target field will end up looking something like:

"C:\Program Files\Flying Pig Systems\Hog2PC.exe" -r

When Hog 2PC software is run from the shortcut, the screens will now display correctly.

Auto Start

The application can be made to auto start when the PC is booted. This can be useful for installations where an operator is not always present to restart the system after a power failure or at the start of the day.

Create a shortcut to the Hog2PC.exe application. Right click over the shortcut and select the properties entry from the menu. Click in the Target field and add a space, a hyphen, a lower case letter a, another space then the path of the show directory that should be run at startup. Typically the target field will end up looking something like:

"C:\Program Files\Flying Pig Systems\Hog2PC.exe" -a C:\AshowDir

When the shortcut is run it will start the two Touchscreen windows and automatically press the Load show button to load the show in the given directory. To get Hog 2PC software to run at startup, move the shortcut into the Startup folder in the Windows Start Menu.

Display Problems

If you experience display problems while using Hog 2PC software (such as white areas appearing in the touchscreen windows when you move them), first try updating the drivers for your graphics card to the most recent version. If this does not help, you can run Hog 2PC software in 'compatibility' mode, which may result in reduced performance when moving the touchscreen windows around the screen, but should solve the problem.

Create a shortcut to the Hog2PC.exe application. Right click over the shortcut and select the properties entry from the menu. Click in the Target field and add a space, a hyphen, and a lower case letter c. Typically the target field will end up looking something like:

"C:\Program Files\Flying Pig Systems\Hog2PC.exe" -c

When the shortcut is run it will start Hog 2PC software in compatibility mode.

Visualiser Support

Visualising Hog 2PC Output

Hog 2PC software has been designed to interface directly with WYSIWYG, Martin ShowDesigner and LewLight Capture to allow real-time on-screen visualisation of the output from Hog 2PC software. You do not need to have a DMX widget connected to use these features, as the data is sent directly from the Hog 2PC application to the visualisation application without requiring a physical DMX link. (You must have installed WYSIWYG and/or MSD and/or Capture on the same computer before installing Hog 2PC software. If this is not the case, install WYSIWYG and/or MSD and/or Capture and re-run the Hog 2PC setup program to enable visualisation.)

When Hog 2PC software is interfaced to a visualiser in this manner, your computer may be less responsive than when running Hog 2PC software alone. This is normal, as both programs must share the computer's resources.

Using Hog 2PC Software with ESP Vision

To visualise Hog2PC output using ESP Vision, first start the Hog2 PC application as usual. Once the two touchpanel windows have appeared, the Hog 2PC software is ready to connect to ESP Vision.

Start ESP Vision and, at the startup screen, select the DMX Provider as HogPC.dll.

| ESP Vision | | × |
|---------------|-------------------|---|
| Scene File: | Demo.ESC | |
| Resolution: | 640x480x32, 60 Hz | • |
| DMX Provider: | hogpc.dll | • |
| | OK Cancel | |

Using Hog 2PC Software with WYSIWYG

To visualise Hog 2PC output using WYSIWYG, first start Hog 2PC software as usual. Once the two touchpanel windows have appeared, Hog 2PC software is ready to connect to WYSIWYG.

Start WYSIWYG and open an existing show or create a new one. From the Setup menu, select Device Manager.



If 'Hog II' or 'Hog II Overdrive' is not already listed, click on the New button.

| ary Selection | | ? |
|--|------------------------------|---|
| ALL Manufacturer m_AVAB | Appearance Version Data | |
| ⊕ - 4VAB ⊕ - 4VAB / Transtechnik. ⊕ - 4volites ⊕ - CAST ⊕ - Colortran/NSI ⊕ - Compulite ⊕ - ETC ⊟ - Flying Pig System — Hog II | | |
| | View Plan C Side C Front | |
| i⊞∝MA Lighting 品 Marcia | ✓ <u>Insert</u> <u>C</u> bse | |

Select Consoles \ Manufacturer \ Flying Pig Systems \ Hog II (or Hog II Overdrive) and click on Insert. When asked whether you want to create new patch universes, select 'Yes'.

Hog 2PC Handbook

| Name | Туре | Status | Connect on load | New |
|----------------|------------------------|---------------|-----------------|------------|
| 📴 Hog II Overd | drive Hog II Overdrive | Not Cornected | No | Properties |
| | | | | Delete |
| | | | | Connect |
| | | | | Show Remot |
| | | | | Select All |

Select the Hog II (or Hog II Overdrive) entry in the Device Manager and click on Connect. The Status will change to 'Connected'. Click on the Close button to exit the Device Manager.

| ij * Manager - Your Name : [Plot3] | | | |
|------------------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------|---------|
| Views | Data Reports Counting | Patch Universes | Layouts |
| | E | | Open |
| C E | 🔤 F 📰 G | | New |
| D | | | Clone |
| | | | Delete |

You should now have four patch universes (or seven if you selected Hog II Overdrive) available in WYSIWYG, labeled A to G. These correspond as follows:

It is recommended that you rename these outputs from a single letter to the output number they represent by clicking on the existing labels and entering new ones. (Do not make the names too long, or they will not be visible when selecting a universe to connect a fixture to.)

| ïews Data | Reports Counting | Patch Universes | Layouts |
|------------|------------------|-----------------|---------|
| HogPC 1 | HogPC 3b | | Open |
| HogPC 2a | HogPC 4a | | New |
| 🔢 HogPC 3a | | | Clone |
| | | | Delete |

You can now patch any fixture in WYSIWYG to any on the seven Hog 2PC outputs by using the patch tools provided by WYSIWY. (Select 'patch universe defined' in the index of the WYSIWY help file for more information.)

| Note: Right clicking on one of the patch universes and selecting properties will display a | ID : HogPC 3b |
|--|----------------------------|
| dialog box showing which console output is | Name: PORT F |
| bound to that patch universe. | |
| This data is shown correctly for the Hog II | Source |
| console, but incorrectly for the Hog II Overdrive. | Console : Hog II Overdrive |
| This does not affect operation of Wysiwyg or | Port : Output 4a |
| HogPC in any other way. | |
| Wrong! | Bind UnBind |

Using Hog 2PC Software with Martin ShowDesigner

To visualise Hog 2PC output using MSD, first start Hog 2PC software as usual. Once the two touchpanel windows have appeared, Hog 2PC software is ready to connect to MSD.

Start MSD Offline. From the Control menu, click on Select Driver.

If the current driver is not 'Hog 2PC Link', click on 'Hog 2PC Link' in the driver list and click on the Select button followed by the OK button. You will need to close and restart MSD for the changes to take effect.

| elect driver | | |
|-----------------------------------|----|--|
| jurrent : HogPC Link | | |
| - No driver | | |
| Hoge Clink Martin DMX Card 4.4 | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| Setup Select | ОК | |
| | | |

With the Hog 2PC Link driver active (after restarting MSD if you just selected it), ensure that Follow DMX is selected on the Control menu.



A coloured circle on the MSD status bar indicates the current status of the driver. If it is red, the driver is currently in 'Hold' mode. Select Go from the control menu to start receiving DMX from Hog 2PC software. The circle should turn green to indicate that the driver is active.

Any fixtures patched in MSD will now respond to Hog 2PC software. The patch universes correspond as follows:

| 1 = Output 1 | 2 = Output 2a | 3 = Output 3a | 4 = Output 4a |
|--------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|
| | 5 = Output 2b | 6 = Output 3b | 7 = Output 4b |

Using Hog 2PC Software with LewLight Capture

To visualise Hog 2PC output using Capture, first start Hog 2PC software as usual. Once the two touchpanel windows have appeared, Hog 2PC software is ready to connect to Capture.

- 1. Start Capture (version 3.0.3 or later).
- 2. From the Tools menu, click on Providers.
- 3. Right click on **Hog 2PC** and select Enable.
- 4. Close the Providers window, and select the Universes tab.
- Right click on the universe you wish to link to Hog 2PC, and select Provider, Setup.
- In the dialog now displayed, select the Hog 2PC output you wish to link to the universe in Capture and click **Ok**.

The 7 Hog 2PC outputs correspond as follows:

| Provider | | DLL name | Status |
|-------------------------------|--|--|----------------------------------|
| AitNet / Avab eth HogPC | DMX Durigle emet IPX Enable Ctrl+E | AriNet.dll AvablPX.dll HcgPC.dll | Disabled Disabled Disabled |
| | ADOUT CTI+A | | |

| roperties F | ixtures Co | ntrol Universes | _ayers Sets | Plots |
|-------------|------------------|-----------------|-------------|-----------------|
| Name | | Provider | | Status |
| Convention | le | | | No provider set |
| Intelligent | <u>N</u> ew univ | erse Ctrl+N | | No providei set |
| | <u>R</u> ename. | , F2 | | |
| | Provider | • | Sahua | |
| | Delete | Del | Decup | |
| | | | Remove | |

| 1 = Output 1 | 2 = Output 2a | 3 = Output 3a | 4 = Output 4a |
|--------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|
| | 5 = Output 2b | 6 = Output 3b | 7 = Output 4b |

| Properties Fixtures | Control Universes Layers Se | ets Plots | |
|------------------------------|--|------------------------------|--|
| Name | Provider | Status | |
| Conventionals Intelligent | [HogPC] Output port 1 [HogPC] Output port 2 | Provider set Provider set | |

You can now use Hog 2PC software to control your fixtures within Capture.

Keyboard Shortcuts

| Type Sp | ecifiers |
|----------------|----------|
| Group Position | F1 F2 |
| Colour | F3 |
| Beam | F4 |
| Macro | F5 |
| Page Effects | F6 F7 |
| List | F8 |
| Time | F9 or T |

| Main Command Keys | | |
|-------------------|----|--|
| Active | A | |
| Blind | В | |
| Clear | С | |
| Сору | Р | |
| Delete | D | |
| Goto | G | |
| HighlightLoad | Н | |
| Load | L | |
| Main Go | }] | |
| Main Stop | {[| |
| Move | М | |
| Next Page | | |
| Record | R | |
| Release | Z | |
| Skip Down | К | |
| Skip Up | J | |
| TryQ | Q | |
| Undo | 0 | |
| Update | U | |

| Combinations | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------|-----------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Choose x | Shift + Number (1-8) | | | | | | | | |
| Go x | Tab + Number (1-8) | | | | | | | | |
| Stop x | ר` + Number (1-8) | | | | | | | | |
| Tool keys | Shift + Func (F1-F10) | | | | | | | | |
| Window keys | Tab + Func (F1-F10) | | | | | | | | |

| Wheels | | | | | | | | | | |
|---------|---------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Wheel 1 | F10 + mouse/cursors | | | | | | | | | |
| Wheel 2 | F11 + mouse/cursors | | | | | | | | | |
| Wheel 3 | F12 + mouse/cursors | | | | | | | | | |

| Others | | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------|---------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| At (@) | @' | | | | | | | | |
| Backspace | Bkspace | | | | | | | | |
| Enter | Return/ Enter | | | | | | | | |
| Full | ~# | | | | | | | | |
| Minus (-) | - | | | | | | | | |
| Next | N | | | | | | | | |
| Pig | Ctrl | | | | | | | | |
| Plus (+) | + | | | | | | | | |
| Set | Numlok | | | | | | | | |
| Setup | S | | | | | | | | |
| Slash (/) | / | | | | | | | | |
| Thru | * or X | | | | | | | | |
| Toggle Cursor Func. | ١ | | | | | | | | |

Keyboard Map

Some keyboards differ slightly in the positioning of keys – particularly punctuation keys. The Hog 2PC mapping of commands to keys relates the physical key to a command, regardless of what the key label may be. The diagram below can be used to relate commands to your local keyboard layout.

| | | | Gro | up | Pos | С | ol | Bec | am | N | lacro | Po | ige | F | x | Ľ | ist | | Tim | ne | | | | |
|------|---------|----------------------------------|-----|---------|-----|---------|----|-----|--------|---|----------|-----|-----------------|---|---|--------|-----|--------------|-----|-----------|---------|------------|---|-----|
| | 1 | | 2 | | 3 | | 4 | | 5 (| | 6 7 | | | 8 | | 9 | | - C | | | + | | - | |
| TAB | ť. | try | ବ | | | | Re | ec | Time | • | | Up | date | Ð | 1 | un | dÖ | co | Py | ma sto | In p | malr go | 1 | 1 |
| CAPS | | Active Setu | | up Dele | | ite | | G | Goto H | | litte bo | | ip ski ck fw | | 2 | Load p | | next vage | | @ | | Ī | • | |
| ¢ | to m | oggie nouse ^{releaz} | | # | าณ | ru Ciea | | | Blind | | Ne | əxt | Move | | | | | 1 | | | Ą | | | |
| PIG | | | | A | J | | | | | | | | | | | | A | LT | | | | | | PIG |